A. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

James Hager was employed as a sheriffs deputy in the town of 

Gold Bar. In order to assist an elderly landowner, Hager attempted to 

evict an unwanted tenant from the landowner's property. Hager was 

charged with burglary in the second degree after he went on another 

individual's property and removed things from a storage container. 

Hager testified at trial that he did so only at the tenant's direction and 

under the mistaken belief that it was the tenant's property. The State 

alleged that Hager knew it was not the tenant's property and intended 

to steal the items from the storage container. 

The trial court admitted evidence of an entirely separate incident 

in which Hager had permission to enter a property but acted beyond 

that permission when he cleared sightlines for hunting and tampered 

with a woman's car on the property. Because the trial court abused its 

discretion when it admitted this evidence, the case should be reversed 

and remanded for a new trial. Alternatively, the case should be 

reversed and remanded for dismissal because there was insufficient 

evidence to show Hager entered or remained unlawfully in a "building" 

or intended to commit a crime when he entered or remained on the 

property. 



B. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

1. The trial court abused its discretion when it admitted 

evidence of an entirely separate, unrelated incident in which Hager 

acted on another landowner's property without permission. 

2. When the trial court entered a conviction of second degree 

burglary in the absence of sufficient evidence to prove each element of 

the offense beyond a reasonable doubt, it deprived Hager of his 

constitutional right to due process. 

C. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR 

1. Evidence is inadmissible to prove a defendant's character 

and show he acted in conformity with that character and evidence must 

be excluded if it is substantially more prejudicial than probative. 

Hager was charged with second degree burglary. The fact that Hager 

entered another individual's property and cleared debris without 

explicit authorization from the owner did not show absence of mistake 

and was far more prejudicial than probative. Did the trial court abuse 

its discretion in admitting this highly prejudicial evidence? 

2. The due process provisions of the Fourteenth Amendment 

and of Article I, § 3 of the Washington Constitution require the State 

prove each element of an offense beyond a reasonable doubt. To 
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convict Hager of second degree burglary the State had to prove he 

intended to commit a crime against a person or property after entering a 

building. Where the State's evidence did not establish Hager entered a 

building or that he intended to commit a crime upon entering the 

property, is there sufficient evidence to support Hager's conviction for 

second degree burglary? 

D. STATEMENTOFTHECASE 

a. Facts related to the crime charged. 

James Hager was a deputy with the Snohomish County sheriffs 

office. 8/13/13 RP 90-91. After a few years as a deputy, he was 

selected to fill a vacant position in Gold Bar. 8/13/13 RP 101. 

Gold Bar is a small town, with only one grocery store, two gas 

stations, a small post office, and a handful of other businesses. 

8/1/3113 RP 14. Deputies assigned to Gold Bar are encouraged to stay 

engaged with the citizenry and make "proactive contacts," reaching out 

to individuals who law enforcement is concerned may be committing 

crimes or have knowledge helpful to solving open investigations. 

8/13/13 RP 24. According to Hager's sergeant, Hager took this 

obligation seriously, making more proactive contacts than most other 

deputies. 8113113 RP 25. 
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Shortly after Hager began working in Gold Bar, his partner 

introduced him to an elderly man named Bill Pearson. 8/13/13 RP 104, 

128. Mr. Pearson owned two properties in Gold Bar, both of which 

were "giantjunkyards." 8/13/13 RP 9. The sheriffs office was 

engaged in an ongoing project to clean up properties like Mr. 

Pearson's, both to improve the town's appearance and because 

neglected properties often lead to problems such as squatting and thefts. 

8/13/13 RP 9-10; 127. Mr. Pearson was in regular contact with the 

sheriffs office, as he often believed things had been stolen from him, 

and Hager tried to assist Mr. Pearson in cleaning up his properties. 

8/13/13 RP 126-27. 

However, before agreeing to work with Hager to clean up his 

properties, Mr. Pearson first wanted Donnie Anderson, an individual 

residing in a trailer on one of the properties, removed. 8/13/13 RP 128. 

The sheriffs office had assisted Mr. Pearson with removing an 

individual from his property before, but all of Hager's initial efforts to 

evict Mr. Anderson from the property failed. 8/13/13 RP 127, 132. 

Although Mr. Anderson agreed to leave, he was not making any 

progress toward doing so. 8/13/13 RP 136. 

4 



In order to speed things up, Hager presented Mr. Anderson with 

solutions to the obstacles Mr. Anderson claimed he was facing, 

including providing Mr. Anderson with free gravel to situate him on a 

new property and locating a storage container for him at a reduced 

price. 8113113 RP 139-40. Although Mr. Anderson denied it at trial, 

Hager and Mr. Anderson's girlfriend, Kerry Eubanks, both testified that 

Mr. Anderson informed Hager he would not leave until he was able to 

retrieve his belongings from a property he owned in Skykomish. 

8/8113 RP 158; 8/13/13 RP 113, 140. Hager and Ms. Eubanks both 

explained that Mr. Anderson drew a map for Hager so that Hager could 

retrieve these items for him. 8/13/13 RP 113, 143. After Hager left, 

Mr. Anderson laughed and told Ms. Eubanks there was no way Hager 

would find the property, and ifhe did, he would get in trouble. 8/13/13 

RP 114. 

Hager located the property according to Mr. Anderson's 

directions. 8113113 RP 150. Although the property was behind two 

locked gates, Hager was able to unlock both gates using a Bonneville 

Power key a friend had given him for hunting and fishing. 8113/13 RP 

147-48. He found the storage container where Mr. Anderson had 

indicated it would be. 8113/13 RP 151. Hager cut the padlock to the 
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container and took the things he assumed Mr. Anderson wanted. 

8/13/13 RP 152. This included a woodstove, chimney pieces, and 

cedar planking, as well as some "junk" (chunks of metal and 

unidentifiable pieces of hardware). 8/8/13 RP 43,64. Hager also took 

an extension cord that was providing power to a nearby yurt. 8/8/13 

RP 47. Although the yurt was sparsely furnished with a refrigerator, 

bedding, and kitchenware, nothing in the yurt was touched. 8/8/13 RP 

39,64-65. Hager explained at trial that he was not sure what the yurt 

was but that he did not believe it belonged to Mr. Anderson. 8/13/13 

RP 158-59. 

Hager later learned Mr. Anderson had owned the property at one 

time, but Mr. Anderson had abandoned the property and it was 

"reclaimed" by the prior owner, who sold it to Marcus Swenson 

approximately eleven years before this incident. 8/8/13 RP 27-28, 157-

58. The Swenson family constructed the yurt on the property and used 

it as their vacation home. 8/8/13 RP 34. However, the storage 

container was on the land when the Swensons purchased the property. 

8/8/13 RP 35. It originally contained "random bits of automotive 

hardware," most of which Mr. Swenson took to the dump. 8/8/13 RP 

37. 
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Shortly after Hager went on the property and removed the items 

from the storage container, the Swensons went to stay overnight. 

8/8113 RP 38. Immediately, they noticed the yurt had no electricity. 

8/8113 RP 38-39. The next day, Mr. Swenson discovered that things 

had been taken from the storage container. 8/8113 RP 43. He reviewed 

footage from a security camera, which showed Hager taking the items, 

and provided the images to the King County sheriff. 8/8/13 RP 47, 71. 

Deputy Garrett Jorgensen, with the King County sheriffs office, 

reviewed the images and spotted Hager's truck, which had a unique 

hoist, while driving to work a few days later. 8/8/13 RP 71, 76. He 

stopped Hager and questioned him about the incident on the Swenson 

property, which had occurred only 12 days before. 8/8/13 RP 76, 80-

81. Although initially confused, Hager informed Deputy Jorgensen that 

he had been on the property to retrieve Mr. Anderson's things. 8/8113 

RP 81. After understanding that Deputy Jorgensen was investigating 

the incident as a burglary, Hager offered to return the property. 8/8113 

RP 89. The items were still stored outside Hager's home because, 

despite his repeated attempts, he had not been able to reach Mr. 

Anderson since the day Mr. Anderson drew the map directing him to 

the property. 8113113 RP 161-62. 
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During the investigation most of the property was returned to 

the Swensons. 8/8/13 RP 119. Hager was terminated from the sheriffs 

office as a result of the criminal charge. 8/12/13 RP 106. After a jury 

trial, Hager was convicted of one count of second degree burglary. CP 

70. 

b. Facts related to the separate incident admitted under ER 
404(b). 

At trial, the court granted the State's motion to admit evidence 

pursuant to ER 404(b) of a separate, unrelated incident that occurred 

several weeks after the alleged crime. 8/7/13 RP 50, 67. The State 

called four witnesses just to testify about this separate incident, which 

they did in great detail. 8/12/13 RP 7,50,66, 145. 

John Fernald testified he owned property in Index, although he 

lived in Nevada at the time of trial. 8/12/13 RP 49. He had lived on 

the land in Index for a period of time, but it was too "rugged" to rent to 

someone else after he moved to Nevada. 8/12/13 RP 50-51. Instead, 

he designated two friends as caretakers for the property and later 

allowed a woman, Teresa Kohler, to live in a structure located on the 

property. 8/12/13 RP 11, 51. 

After he moved to Nevada, Mr. Fernald's property was subject 

to repeated thefts. 8/12/13 RP 41,54,69. The property had locked 
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gates, but one of the caretakers, Gerald Reule, testified that he had been 

forced to replace the lock eight times since Mr. Fernald left. 8/12/13 

RP 67. Mr. Fernald did not report the thefts until his solar panels were 

stolen, which was the "last straw." 8/12/13 RP 52. 

Hager, in his former capacity as a deputy, responded to Mr. 

Fernald's 911 call. 8/12/13 RP 52. When Hager came to take the 

report, he spoke to both Mr. Fernald and Mr. Reule. 8/12/13 RP 52, 72. 

Hager testified that he spoke mostly to Mr. Reule, who gave him the 

combination to the padlock and told him to come back on the property 

at any time to hunt or camp. 8/13/13 RP 178-181. At trial, Mr. Reule 

confirmed that he had given Hager the combination to the lock and 

permission to enter the property, and that no time limit had been 

imposed on that permission. 8/14/13 RP 61. However, while he 

indicated he "may have" talked with Hager about hunting, he stated 

that he did not give Hager permission to enter the property to hunt or 

camp. 8/14/13 RP 61-62. 

Ms. Kohler testified that several weeks after Hager allegedly 

burglarized the Swenson property, she was cleaning out the structure 

where she planned to live when she saw a white truck pulling a flatbed 

trailer onto Mr. Fernald's property. 8/12/13 RP 16-17. Ms. Kohler was 
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frightened and, after hiding in the bushes for a while, eventually made 

it back to where she parked her car. 8/12/13 RP 17-21. When she 

returned to her car, the hood was up, the sparkplugs and registration 

had been taken, and a note indicated that she should walk up the hill if 

she wanted everything back. 8/12/13 RP 21-22. Instead, she walked 

down to the highway and called 911. 8/12/13 RP 22. 

At trial Hager explained he thought Ms. Kohler's car was 

suspicious, so he disabled the car and took the registration so that she 

would have to identify herself before leaving the property. 8/14/13 RP 

182. Hager was on the property to clear sightlines through the 

blackberry bushes, so that he could successfully hunt a bear he saw on 

the property. 8/13/13 RP 183. He brought two friends with him who 

owned equipment so that they could do this quickly. 8/13/13 RP 183-

84. He also moved a log that was partially blocking the roadway. 

8/13/13 RP 184. 

After the incident, Hager contacted Mr. Fernald and told him he 

had been hunting a bear on the property and clearing blackberry bushes 

in order to do so. 8/12/13 RP 60. He requested permission to hunt the 

bear, which Mr. Fernald initially gave but rescinded a few days later. 
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8112/13 RP 60-61. There were no charges filed against Hager related to 

this incident. 8/6/13 RP 59; 817113 RP 51. 

E. ARGUMENT 

1. The admission of Hager's actions on the Fernald 
property violated ER 404(b). 

The State is not permitted to introduce evidence simply to show 

a defendant tends to act in a particular way. "ER 404(b) is a categorical 

bar to admission of evidence for the purpose of proving a person's 

character and showing that the person acted in conformity with that 

character." State v. Gresham, 173 Wn.2d 405,420,269 P.3d 207 

(2012). "ER 404(b) is not designed 'to deprive the State of relevant 

evidence necessary to establish an essential element of its case,' but 

rather to prevent the State from suggesting that a defendant is guilty 

because he or she is a criminal-type person who would be likely to 

commit the crime charged." State v. Foxhoven, 161 Wn.2d 168, 175, 

163 P.3d 786 (2007) (quoting State v. Lough, 125 Wn.2d 847,859,889 

P.2d 487 (1995». 

In order to admit the evidence under ER 404(b), the court must: 

(1) find by a preponderance of the evidence that the 
misconduct occurred, (2) identify the purpose for 
which the evidence is sought to be introduced, (3) 
determine whether the evidence is relevant to prove 
an element of the crime charged, and (4) weigh the 
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probative value of the evidence against its 
prejudicial effect. 

Gresham, 173 Wn.2d at 421. Thus, ER 404(b) must be read in 

conjunction with ER 403, which requires the exclusion of evidence 

when its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of 

unfair prejudice. State v. Olsen, 175 Wn. App. 269, 280,309 P.3d 518 

(2013) (citing State v. Smith, 106 Wn.2d 772,776,725 P.2d 951 

(1986». 

The proponent of the evidence has the burden to show its 

proper purpose. State v. DeVincentis, 150 Wn.2d 11,17,74 P.3d 119 

(2003). A trial court's ruling to admit evidence under ER 404(b) is 

reviewed for an abuse of discretion. State v. Fisher, 165 Wn.2d 727, 

745,202 P.3d 937 (2009). A trial court abuses its discretion when its 

order is manifestly unreasonable or based on untenable grounds, or if 

the court fails to adhere to the requirements of the rule. State v. Thang, 

145 Wn.2d 630,642,41 P.3d 1159 (2002); Fisher, 165 Wn.2d at 745. 

a. The trial court abused its discretion when it admitted 
Hager's actions on the Fernald property to show an absence 
of mistake. 

Hager was charged with one count of second degree burglary 

for entering the Swensons' land and taking items out of a storage 

container. CP 1. In a motion in limine, the State sought to introduce a 
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number of unrelated acts by Hager. 817113 RP 48. The Court excluded 

most of what the State sought to introduce but permitted the State to 

present evidence of Hager's later actions involving the Fernald 

property. 817113 RP 66-67. Hager had two friends with him the day he 

went to the Fernald property, and the court limited testimony to "the 

actions the State can link up to the defendant." 817113 RP 68. 

In admitting the evidence, the court accepted the State's 

argument that the evidence was admissible under ER 404(b) because it 

proved absence of mistake. 817113 RP 67. Hager's defense at trial was 

that he had mistakenly taken the Swensons' property believing he was 

actually retrieving it for the rightful owner, Mr. Anderson, from Mr. 

Anderson's land. 8114113 RP 124. However, the court's rationale is 

untenable because Hager's actions on the Fernald property did not 

show Hager acted other than according to a good faith belief in the 

information Mr. Anderson provided. 

The State's theory was that Hager went onto the Swensons' land 

with the intention of stealing from them. 8/14/13 RP 101. It presented 

evidence from Mr. Anderson that he had never asked Hager to retrieve 

items from the property or provided him with directions. 8/8113 RP 
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158. However, in closing the State argued that perhaps the two had 

worked together to steal the property. 8/14/13 RP 100-01. 

The incident on the Fernald property, in direct contrast to the 

charged crime, did not involve a theft. According to the State, Hager 

had received permission from one of the caretakers to enter the land, 

but abused that permission when he harassed a woman who had 

permission to stay on the property and cleared blackberry bushes in 

order to hunt a bear. 8/12/13 RP 21-22; 8/14/13 RP 61-62. Evidence 

of Hager's boorish actions on the Fernald property does not negate 

Hager's testimony that he was acting in good faith when he took items 

from the Swenson property, and was therefore not admissible as proof 

of absence of mistake. 

b. The trial court abused its discretion when it admitted details 
of the Fernald incident that had little probative value and 
were highly prejudicial. 

Even if this Court finds the trial court properly admitted 

evidence that Hager exceeded the bounds ofthe permission he was 

granted on the Fernald property, the court violated ER 404(b) when it 

permitted an Everett police officer to testify about his investigation of 

the case and allowed the State to delve into Hager's interaction with 

Ms. Kohler in painstaking detail. 
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The court pennitted Brad Williams, a detective with the Everett 

police department who investigated the incident on the Fernald 

property, to testify. 8112/13 RP 145-46. Despite the fact that no 

evidence was presented that Hager stole anything from the Fernald 

property, the detective testified that he investigates arsons, thefts, and 

burglaries. 8112/13 RP 145. Detective Williams testified he 

photographed "property of value that might be of interest to somebody 

who's interested in taking property of value," such as a piece of metal 

pipe located in one of the structures on the land. 8112113 RP 151. He 

testified this type of item was valuable because it could be taken to a 

scrap yard and turned in for money, despite the fact there was no 

evidence that Hager had ever attempted to sell stolen scrap materials. 

8112/13 RP 152. 

Detective Williams further testified that he made contact with 

Hager at Loth Lumber, a "multipurpose" site that also housed metal. 

8112/13 RP 153. He stated he believed Richard Wagner was the 

manager of Loth Lumber, and the State later elicited from Hager that 

Mr. Wagner was one of the friends with him on the Fernald property 

the day of the incident. 8/12/13 RP 154; 8114113 RP 50. 
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Detective Williams testified that when he made contact with 

Hager at Loth Lumber, Hager stated that he had been "waiting for 

[them]" to speak to him. 8/12113 RP 155. Detective Williams 

described how they agreed to meet at the Monroe police department for 

a formal interview, and recited statements Hager made during this 

interview. 8112/13 RP 156-163. 

In addition, the State was permitted to elicit testimony about 

Ms. Kohler's fears when she saw Hager enter the property, how she 

attempted to sneak back to her car, and how she hid in the bushes for as 

long as she could. 8112/13 RP 18-20. The court also permitted 

evidence that Hager removed the sparkplugs from Ms. Kohler's car and 

her registration in order to speak with her before she left, and that Ms. 

Kohler was so frightened when she discovered this that she called 911. 

8112113 RP 21-22. 

The State is not permitted to present evidence of other acts 

simply to suggest Hager is the type of person that would be likely to 

commit the crime charged. Foxhoven, 161 Wn.2d at 175. Yet that is 

exactly what the State was allowed to do in this case. The State had no 

explanation for why a deputy would drive to another county and steal 

seemingly random items from a storage container. Instead, it had to 
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rely on speculation that Hager was engaged in other possible nefarious 

or criminal activity to show that Hager was the type of person who 

would do this. 

The trial court was required to weigh the probative value of the 

evidence against its prejudicial effect. Gresham, 173 Wn.2d at 421. 

"When evidence is likely to stimulate an emotional response rather than 

a rational decision, a danger of unfair prejudice exists." State v. 

Beadle, 173 Wn.2d 97, 120,265 P.3d 863 (2011) (quoting State v. 

Powell, 126 Wn.2d 244,264,893 P.2d 615 (1995)). Evidence should 

be excluded if "its effect would be to generate heat instead of diffusing 

light, or .. . where the minute peg of relevancy will be entirely obscured 

by the dirty linen hung upon it." Smith, 106 Wn.2d at 774 (quoting 

State v. Goebel, 36 Wn.2d 367,379,218 P.2d 300 (1950)). In doubtful 

cases, "the scale should be tipped in favor of the defendant and

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