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

city of Gold Bar might have interest in buying it for $200. 

3RP 31-32; Supp. CP _ (sub 39) at 11. Hager towed the trailer to 

his home for a week or two and then to a lumberyard, where he 
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secured it, but admitted never paying for or returning the trailer. 

3RP 31-32; Supp. CP _ (sub 39) at 11 . Baker complained that 

there was never any actual agreement to sell, just a hypothetical 

discussion. 3RP 31-32; Supp. CP _ (sub 39) at 11. 

The State's purpose in seeking to admit this evidence was 

to explain Hager's motive, intent to steal for the charged crime, 

res gestae and lack of mistake or accident. 3RP 48-54, 65-66; 

Supp. CP_ (sub 39) at 12. The trial court ruled that this evidence 

was inadmissible. 3RP 67. 

iii. Incident on Fernald property. 

On May 19, 2012, approximately two weeks after the 

Swenson burglary, Hager went onto the property of John Fernald 

just outside of Index on Highway 2. 4RP 145-46, 157-58. The 

property was "rugged," located about a quarter mile up a steep hill 

in rural Snohomish County. 5RP 51 . A large cable gate padlocked 

to a steel post cordoned off access to the property halfway up the 

hill. 4RP 12; Ex. 32. Fernald, who had moved to Nevada two and 

a half years earlier but kept the property, described the 32-acre 

parcel as "raw land" and said he had been "liv[ing) off the grid" in a 

cabin and a half-built shop there. 5RP 50; Ex. 32-36. After moving, 
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he asked two friends, Gerald Reule and Bill Cross, to act as 

caretakers to the property and gave them keys. 5RP 51. 

The property began suffering from constant theft, and in 

August 2011 during a visit home, Fernald called 911 to report some 

missing solar panels. 4RP 52-54. Hager arrived to take the report. 

4RP 52. During that conversation, Fernald did not discuss letting 

Hager access the property. 4RP 53. Reule, who was also present, 

spoke briefly with Hager and gave him permission to come back on 

the property in his capacity as a police officer, giving him the 

combination to the lock, but did not give him permission to hunt or 

camp on the land. 7RP 62-64. Neither Fernald nor Reule ever 

contacted Hager for help regarding the property again. 5RP 54-55; 

7RP 62. 

Although the first lock on the gate was a combination lock, it 

only lasted about six weeks before it was cut, so Reule and Cross 

always used key locks after that. 5RP 16; 7RP 60-61. After 

Fernald and Reule gave permission to their friend Teresa Kohler to 

stay on the property for the summer of 2012, Reule gave her a 

current key to the lock. 4RP 12; 5RP 63,69. 

On May 19,2012, Kohler was cleaning out one of the 

buildings when she heard a large truck driving quickly up the road . 
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4RP 17. Because she did not recognize the truck or driver, she 

became scared, hid and eventually tried to access her vehicle. 

4RP 17-21. However, when she got to her car, she discovered that 

Hager had left a signed note on her vehicle telling her to come up 

the hill if she wanted her things; he had taken the spark plugs from 

her car and the registration from her glove box. 4RP 20-22. Kohler 

called 911. 4RP 22. When Snohomish County Deputy Ross 

arrived, Kohler went up in Ross' patrol car to the residence and saw 

Hager in civilian clothes sitting on her car. 4RP 27,30. 

Hager claimed that he'd been hunting bear and removing a 

stump out of the road, that he was friends with Fernald and that he 

had permission to keep watch on the property. 4RP 28. Kohler 

saw that the two men accompanying Hager had been inside the 

barn moving her personal items and that one of them had taken her 

eyeglasses. 3RP 49. One of them was Richard Wagner, the 

manager of Loth Lumber, which Hager and Larry Williams 

described as a multi-use site with various businesses and large 

equipment. 6RP 138, 152-53; 7RP 50. 

When Everett Police Detective Brad Williams was assigned 

to the case on May 29,2012, Hager told him that he had been up to 

the property multiple times to track and hunt and occasionally 
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check up on the property. 5RP 147, 157. On May 19, 2012, he 

had gone up to do "cleanup" with two civilians and clear some 

bushes for sightlines for hunting bear. 5RP 159. He claimed to 

know the combination to the lock and said he became suspicious of 

Kohler's car, hypothesizing that there might be a marijuana grow 

operation in the area .8 5RP 159,161 . Fernald testified that on the 

day after the incident, Hager called him in Nevada to belatedly 

request permission to hunt a bear on his property, telling Fernald 

that he had been up there a number of times keeping an eye on his 

property. 5RP 60. Fernald initially granted permission, but after 

learning what had happened the day before with Kohler and that it 

was not even bear hunting season, he rescinded permission by 

email on May 24,2012. 5RP 61-64. Hager admitted that he'd 

called Fernald to find out what he already knew and to ask him to 

clear things up with his department. 2RP 28-29; 5RP 163; 

6RP 189. At trial, Hager continued to insist that he had entered the 

property to hunt bear after receiving permission, but until recently "it 

[was] still confused in my brain" who had granted that permission. 

6RP 179. He then claimed that it was Reule. 6RP 178. 

8 Hager testified that it was "common" to have marijuana grows in the area but 
acknowledged that he had seen no actual evidence of a grow operation on 
Fernald's property. 5RP 161 . 
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The State's purpose in seeking to admit this evidence was 

to explain Hager's motive, intent to steal for the charged crime, 

res gestae and lack of mistake or accident. 3RP 48-54, 64-65; 

Supp. CP _ (sub 39) at 12. The trial court ruled that this evidence 

was partially admissible as proof of absence of mistake. 

3RP 67-68. In order to restrict the prejudicial effect, the court 

limited the evidence to testimony regarding Hager's actions and 

excluded his associates' actions, specifically their taking and 

moving of Teresa Kohler's property. 3RP 67-68. 

b. The Fernald Incident Was Properly Admitted 
To Prove Lack Of Mistake Or Accident. 

Although evidence of prior bad acts is generally inadmissible 

to prove the character of a person in order to show conformity 

therewith, such evidence may be admissible for other purposes, 

such as proof of motive, opportunity, intent, preparation, plan, 

knowledge, identity, or absence of mistake or accident. ER 404(b); 

State v. Lough, 125 Wn.2d 847, 854-55, 889 P.2d 487 (1995). To 

admit evidence of prior bad acts, the trial court must: (1) find by a 

preponderance of the evidence that that the acts occurred, 

(2) identify the purpose for which the evidence is admitted, (3) find 
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that the evidence is related to that purpose, and (4) balance the 

probative value of the evidence against the prejudicial effect. 

State v. Kilgore, 147 Wn.2d 288, 292,5 P.3d 974 (2002). 

An appellate court reviews the interpretation of an 

evidentiary rule de novo. State v. DeVincentis, 150 Wn.2d 11, 17, 

74 P.3d 119 (2003). However, the trial court's decision to admit or 

exclude evidence under a correctly interpreted rule is reviewed for 

an abuse of discretion. State v. Foxhoven, 161 Wn.2d 168, 174, 

163 P.3d 786 (2007). Discretion is abused only where no 

reasonable person would take the position adopted by the trial 

court. State v. Rehak, 67 Wn. App. 157, 162,834 P.2d 651 (1992). 

ER 404(b) explicitly identifies the absence of mistake or 

accident as a proper purpose for the admission of prior bad acts. 

It is recognized as a "well-established exception to ER 404(b)."g 

State v. Roth, 75 Wn. App. 808, 818, 881 P.2d 268 (1994). Indeed, 

it has recently been held that "when a defendant asserts that 

certain conduct is accidental, evidence of prior misconduct is highly 

9 This has also been characterized as evidence necessary to "rebut a claim of 
mistake, accident or good faith ." 5D Karl B. Tegland, Washington Practice: 
Courtroom Handbook On Washington Evidence ch. 5, at 192 (2013-14). Tegland 
has described good faith , or the "doctrine of chances," as "simply another way of 
describing admissibility to prove intent, lack of accident, or a common scheme or 
plan." 5 Karl B. Tegland, Washington Practice: Evidence Law and Practice 
§ 404.30, at 595 (5th ed.2007). 
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relevant as it will tend to support or rebut such a claim." State v. 

Olsen, 175 Wn. App. 269, 282, 309 P.3d 518 (2013) (emphasis in 

original). Such evidence must be sufficiently similar to meet a 

threshold of noncoincidence. State v. Baker, 89 Wn. App. 726, 

735, 950 P.2d 486 (1997). 

In Olsen, the trial court admitted three of the defendant's 

prior acts of domestic violence against his wife after he denied 

pouring gasoline on her and threatening to set her on fire, claiming 

instead that he had doused a dog with gasoline that happened to 

jump on her bed. 175 Wn. App. at 278. The Olsen court held that 

the trial judge had correctly interpreted ER 404(b) on the 

appropriate legal grounds of motive, intent "and, especially, to 

counter his claims of accident." .!sl at 282. Moreover, it found no 

abuse of discretion because "the evidence admitted clearly had a 

high degree of probative value - especially in light of Olsen's claim 

that the spilling of gasoline . . . was an accident incidental to his 

attempt to relocate the dog." .!sl at 282-83 (emphasis in original) . 

This Court has reached the same conclusion when the 

defendant's victims in the prior bad act and the current charged 

crime are not the same. Roth, 75 Wn. App. at 818-20; State v. 

Fernandez, 28 Wn. App. 944, 628 P.2d 818 (1980). In Fernandez, 

- 26 -
1407-20 Hager COA 



" , . , 

this Court held that evidence of the defendant's two prior assaults 

and thefts against different men in rural areas was properly 

introduced in the defendant's trial for the murder of his heavily 

insured wife, which also occurred in a remote location, to prove 

identity and to "rebut the defense explanation of an accident -

essential ingredients of the State's case." 28 Wn. App. at 952-53. 

In Roth, after the defendant claimed as accidental the death 

of his wife, despite physical evidence that disputed the feasibility of 

his account, the trial court admitted evidence that the defendant's 

first wife had also mysteriously died in similar circumstances where 

the physical evidence was inconsistent with his explanation of the 

accident. 75 Wn. App. at 810-15. This Court held that the 

evidence of the prior act was "highly relevant to a crucial aspect of 

the State's case: the need to rebut Roth's claim of accident and to 

establish an intentional [crime.]" !sl at 819. 

Here, the trial court properly interpreted ER 404(b) and 

admitted the Fernald incident under appropriate legal grounds to 

prove absence of mistake, accident or good faith . Hager's defense 

theory centered on a claim that he believed, in good faith, that he 

had permission to enter Swenson's property and to remove what he 

wanted. He professed to eventually realizing his mistake and 
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blamed the accident on Donnie Anderson, who he said had tricked 

him. It was thus highly relevant, probative of his criminal intent, and 

crucial to the State's case to be able to rebut that claim of accident, 

mistake and good faith by introducing evidence that not two weeks 

later, Hager claimed falsely to have permission to enter Fernald's 

property and to remove trees and bushes to accommodate his 

personal hunting habits. 

Hager essentially agrees with this characterization of his 

defense trial, but inexplicably claims that "the [trial] court's rationale 

is untenable because Hager's actions on the Fernald property did 

not show Hager acted other than according to a good faith belief in 

the information Mr. Anderson provided." App. Br. 13. This is, 

however, the very definition of a claim of mistake, accident or good 

faith for which rebuttal evidence is permitted under ER 404(b). 

Hager's protestations may be based on his somewhat 

incomplete characterization of his trial defense: "that he had 

mistakenly taken the Swensons' property believing he was actually 

retrieving it for the rightful owner." App. Br. 13. This is inaccurate 

insofar as it was not just his retrieval but his very act of entry and 

presence on the land that was allegedly "mistaken." So it was with 

his entry and presence on Fernald's property. Hager claimed to 
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police to have rightfully obtained permission from Fernald (and later 

Reule) in 2011 to hunt and camp at will. 

In both the charged case and the Fernald incident, the 

alleged grantors of permission adamantly denied ever granting 

Hager such license. Donnie Anderson and Fernald outright refuted 

it. The most Reule allowed was that he had granted Hager leave to 

watch the property as a patrol officer, which Hager inherently had 

anyway. Hager nevertheless came onto the land in a civilian 

capacity, in civilian clothes, with his civilian companions. His claim 

that he had license to be there is defeated by his own admission, 

confirmed by Fernald himself, that he called Fernald the very next 

day to ask for belated permission and a plea to work things out with 

his police department. 

Hager's contention that the Fernald incident was too 

dissimilar to the charged incident is without merit. Contrary to his 

assertion that the Fernald incident did not involve a theft, Hager 

and Kohler both testified that Hager removed Kohler's spark plugs 

from her car without permission. Hager also cut down a large tree. 

Moreover, the claim that the Fernald incident involved no theft is 

specious, since Hager's friends did in fact go into the buildings and 

take Kohler's property, a detail elided by the trial court to protect 
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Hager against additional prejudice. Moreover, the distinction 

between entering a property to destroy versus remove property is 

inconsequential to the threshold of noncoincidence; in both cases, 

the owner is deprived of his property. 

c. The Court Properly Exercised Its Discretion . 

The probative value of the Fernald incident was clearly high: 

it occurred only two weeks after the charged incident and was 

within Hager's patrol area, and involved similar facts. In both 

cases, Hager entered remote, infrequently occupied properties off 

rural Highway 2, went past clearly marked gates, took and 

destroyed items, and when caught, claimed to have been granted 

permission by the property owner. 

Contrary to Hager's assertion, the trial court on balance 

exercised considerable discretion in limiting the impact of Hager's 

prior bad act. The court limited the evidence to testimony 

regarding Hager's actions only and excised any mention of the 

theft perpetrated by Hager's friends. Hager nonetheless takes 

issue with minute details such as Detective Brad Williams' 

self-identification as a property crimes detective who investigates 

burglaries, thefts and arsons. App. Br. 15. This testimony 
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engenders no prejudice; it arose during the standard introduction of 

an officer's training, experience, and current duties. 5RP 145. 

Hager certainly does not allege that Brad Williams" testimony that 

he was also a domestic violence detective somehow paints Hager 

as a batterer. 

Hager's other claims can also be summarily rejected. Hager 

does not contest that Detective Haldeman was properly allowed to 

testify earlier in the trial regarding the marketable value of scrap 

metal and thus rebut Hager's own claim that the items he took from 

Swenson's property were merely junk. 5RP 138-40. Therefore, 

Brad Williams' brief mention that he photographed a potentially 

valuable metal pipe during his investigation of the Fernald incident 

was not improper or prejudicial, and fell under the court's ruling 

regarding lack of mistake and addressed Hager's intent on the 

property. 

Teresa Kohler's testimony regarding her fears upon seeing 

Hager enter Fernald's property was not prejudicial and directly 

rebutted Hager's claim that he was welcome there. It also 

demonstrated that Fernald and Reule had given only Kohler, not 

Hager, their permission to be onsite. Neither can Hager 

simultaneously claim that the Fernald incident was not similar 
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enough to the charged crime because it lacked sufficient evidence 

of theft, and then protest that the court admitted evidence that 

Hager stole Kohler's spark plugs from her car. App. Sr. 16. Hager 

also does not explain how any mention of Loth Lumber or its 

manager Richard Wagner implied that Hager was a criminal; there 

was no evidence admitted that Loth Lumber was a criminal outpost 

or that people associated with it were criminals. App. Sr. 15-16. 

Finally, as Hager himself pointed out, the trial court 

"excluded most of what the State sought to introduce" and refused 

to permit mention of the trailer theft or Hager's admitted drug use. 

App. Sr. 13. He cannot establish abuse of discretion and his claim 

must be rejected. 

d. Any Error Was Harmless. 

Evidence admitted erroneously under ER 404(b) is harmless 

unless it can be determined that "within reasonable probabilities, 

had the error not occurred, the outcome of the trial would have 

been materially affected." State v. Gresham, 173 Wn.2d 405, 433, 

269 P.3d 207 (2012). 

Here, the evidence of the Swenson burglary by itself was

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